1994

# In the Matter of the Estate of Mildred C. Meeks, deceased. George F. Naillon v. Robert Gitlin : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### JURISDICTION

This is an appeal of a probate case heard in the Seventh Judicial District Court for the State of Utah, Carbon County. On February 16, 1993 Appellant filed a Petition to Vacate or Set Aside Order under Rule 60(b)(1) and (2), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure which was denied by Judge Bruce K. Halliday of the Seventh Judicial District Court in his order dated October 12, 1993. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal of the district court's order on October 12, 1993, with the Supreme Court of Utah and which was subsequently poured over to the Court of Appeals. The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked under 78-2-2(3)(j)(4).

### ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Whether the trial court erred in refusing to grant Naillon a continuance so that he could be represented at the hearing and have an opportunity to be heard. Review of the trial Court's decision is under an abuse of discretion. Birch v. Birch, 771 P.2d 1114 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

2. Whether the trial court erred in failing to vacate or set aside the Order Appointing Robert Gitlin as Personal Representative and admitting the will into probate. Review of the Court's conclusions concerning whether to vacate the order is under an abuse of discretion. Id.

### **DETERMINATIVE PROVISION**

Appellant is not aware of any constitutional provisions, ordinances, regulations, statutes, rules, or cases which are solely determinative of the issues presented in this appeal.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case seeks a review of the trial court's denial of a request for a continuance to permit Appellant an opportunity to formally object to the appointment of Robert Gitlin as the personal representative of the estate of Mildred C. Meeks and admitting the will into probate and further seeks a review as to the court's decision to not vacate or set aside the order admitting the will into probate and appointing Robert Gitlin as personal representative. Naillon timely filed a U.R.C.P. 60(b) Petition to Vacate or Set Aside the Probate Order which was denied by the district court on November 10, 1993. (R. 27-53.) On March 12, 1993, Gitlin filed a Motion To Dismiss Petition of George Naillon to Vacate Or Set Aside Order. (R. 64-106.) A Response to Gitlin's Motion To Dismiss was filed on March 26, 1993. (R. 120-129.) A Reply Memorandum was filed by Gitlin on April 5, 1993. (R. 130-135.) On September 3, 1993 the court issued a Memorandum Decision denying Naillon's request for relief. (R. 145-149.) The final order of the court was filed October 12, 1993. (R. 150-151.) A Notice of Appeal was filed on November 10, 1993. (R. 152-153.) On

December 13, 1993, Gitlin moved for summary dismissal on the basis that the Supreme Court lacked jurisdiction in this matter. The Supreme Court denied Gitlin's motion on January 25, 1994. The Supreme Court poured this case over to the Court of Appeals for disposition on February 16, 1994.

The opinion of the Seventh Judicial District Court for the State of Utah, Carbon County is unreported, and contained in the Transcript of Record filed with the court.

**A. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. Mildred Crandall Meeks passed away on August 10, 1992, at the age of eighty-one (81) years. (R. 1.) The stated cause of death was carcinoma of the stomach. Additionally, immediately prior to her death the deceased was suffering from a broken hip and was hospitalized and medicated. (R. 34.)

2. The Decedent was a resident of Carbon County, Utah, and at the time of her death left an estate therein. (R. 1-5.)

3. The deceased's purported last will and testament dated October 18, 1988, has been deposited with the Court. This will allegedly supersedes and revokes the decedent's prior will. (R.7-11.)

4. On or about October 27, 1992, Robert Gitlin filed with the Court a Petition for Formal Probate of Will and Appointment of Personal Representative. (R. 1-6.)

5. Notice was sent to the Appellant on November 5, 1992.  
(R. 12-14.)

6. Appellant, George Naillon, resides in Auburn, California, and received said Notice on or about Saturday, November 7, 1992, informing him of the hearing scheduled for Monday, November 16, 1992. (R. 30-35.)

7. Upon receiving notice from the Court, Petitioner immediately attempted to contact attorneys in the Price, Provo and Salt Lake areas to represent him at the hearing and to file an objection on his behalf. Petitioner was unable to retain an attorney to represent him. The Petitioner contacted his California attorney, Rod Shepard and requested that he call the Court to request a continuance of said hearing until he could retain local counsel to represent him at the hearing. (R. 30-35.)

8. Naillon's counsel contacted the Court and requested a continuance. (R. 32.) This is supported by the Court's Minute Entry dated November 16, 1992. (R. 18.)

9. Despite Naillon's request for a continuance the Court granted Gitlin's Petition for Formal Probate of Will and Appointment of Personal Representative on November 16, 1992. (R. 15-17.)

11. The Acceptance of Appointment and Letters Testamentary were filed with the Court on November 17, 1992. (R. 19-20)

12. Seven (7) days prior to the deceased's death, Gitlin prepared a quit-claim deed and had Mildred C. Meeks transfer her real property to him. This took place at the Utah Valley Regional Medical Center while Mildred C. Meeks was under the influence of pain medication which was being given to her for her stomach cancer and broken hip . (R. 30-35, 46-47.)

13. Upon information and belief, prior to the death of the deceased, she received approximately \$85,000.00 from Star Pelton, a sister. Upon further information and belief it is understood that Mr. Gitlin received approximately \$70,000.00 and claims that the same was a gift from the deceased. (R. 30-35.)

14. Subsequent to the order appointing Gitlin as personal representative and formally probating the will, Naillon hired the services of a private investigator, Bruce DeYoung, to look into facts surrounding the death of Mildred Meeks and her relationship with Gitlin. It was he who determined that the real property of Mildred Meeks had been transferred seven (7) days prior to the deceased's death and furthermore that the \$70,000.00 had been received by Gitlin. (R. 30-35.)

15. All the information obtained was after the November 16, 1992, hearing and could not have been ascertained prior thereto or within a short period of time thereafter.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court erred in refusing to vacate or set aside the November 16, 1992 Probate Order ("Probate Order") based upon the facts as set forth in the Petition to Vacate or Set Aside Order, dated February 16, 1993 and the subsequent memoranda filed therewith . The District Court summarily refused to grant Naillon's request for a continuance, thereby precluding Naillon from obtaining counsel and denying him a reasonable opportunity to be heard. Had Naillon been granted an opportunity to be heard, his objections would surely have been referred to the trial calendar for an evidentiary hearing. The court also erred in failing to set aside or vacate the November 16, 1993 order formally probating the will and appointing Gitlin as personal representative.

The District Courts are endowed with considerable latitude and discretion in granting and denying motions to set aside but they should not act arbitrarily and they should be indulgent toward permitting full inquiry and knowledge of disputes so that they can be settled advisedly and in conformity with law and justice. Naillon's request for a continuance was timely and should have been considered in light of the factual circumstances surrounding the situation. Naillon has also demonstrated excusable neglect and other reasons justifying relief from the Probate Order in addition to expending considerable time and monies to discover meritorious

claims which would alter the disposition of this matter if remanded for further proceedings. The District Court abused its discretion in refusing to vacate or set aside the Probate Order appointing Gitlin as Personal Representative and admitting the will into probate. This Court should remand this case for further proceedings to permit Naillon the opportunity to present his objection and the supporting evidence.

#### **ARGUMENT**

##### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO VACATE OR SET ASIDE THE PROBATE ORDER**

Naillon seeks review of the District Court's Order refusing to vacate or set aside the Probate Order appointing Robert Gitlin as personal representative and admitting the will into probate.

It is undisputed that Naillon has an absolute legal right to file a motion under Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to have the Court consider the setting aside or vacating of an Order if the Petitioner can demonstrate sufficient cause. It is not in dispute that Appellant's 60(b) motion was timely filed nor that the denial of said motion is a final appealable order. Amica Mutual Insurance Co. v. Schetter, 768 P.2d 950, (Utah 1989), Mascaro v. Davis, 741 P.2d 938, 946 (Utah 1987). Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction to address the issue as to whether or not the District Court erred in refusing to vacate or set aside the November 16, 1992 order as requested in Naillon's February 16, 1993



Petition.

The Supreme Court of Utah announced its standard for consideration of motions to vacate or set aside the judgments in Mayhew v. Standard Gilsonite Company, 376 P.2d 951 (Utah 1962), wherein it stated that:

It is undoubtedly correct that the trial court is endowed with considerable latitude of discretion in granting or denying such motions. However, it is also true that the court cannot act arbitrarily in that regard, but should be generally indulgent toward permitting full inquiry and knowledge of disputes so they can be settled advisedly and in conformity with law and justice.

It is a fundamental right that an individual have a fair opportunity to be heard and that further that inappropriate decisions by the court be subjected to review. Under the appropriate circumstances, judgments or orders entered by the lower courts are and should be susceptible to attack. It is also to be kept in mind that access to the courts for the protection of rights and the settlement of disputes is one of the most important factors in the maintenance of a peaceable and well ordered society. Interstate Excavating v. AGLA Development 611 P.2d 369 (Utah 1980). Thus, the uniformly acknowledged policy of law is to accord litigants the opportunity for a hearing on the merits, where that can be done without serious injustice to the other party. Id. at 371.

In the case before this Court, it is clear from the pleadings

and the record below that Naillon was denied the opportunity to present evidence and object to the appointment of Gitlin as personal representative and which also resulted in admitting the will to probate. The District Court ignored the limited notice provided to the Naillon, ignored the reasonable request by Naillon's counsel for a continuance, ignored the considerable efforts made to procure local counsel prior to the hearing, and ignored the meritorious claims to be brought forth during the proceedings if remanded for trial as raised by the Petition to Vacate or Set Aside. Surely, Naillon was denied a reasonable opportunity to be heard.

Naillon, a resident of California, made every effort to secure local representation upon his receipt of notice of the hearing on November 7th, 1992 but was unsuccessful. Obviously, Naillon was unprepared for such a hearing and contacted the probate clerk on November 11, 1992, to determine how to obtain an extension but was told to retain an attorney. Naillon immediately sought to engage local counsel and spoke with over thirteen Utah firms who were unable to appear on his behalf. Naillon's counsel from California then contacted the Probate Court prior to the hearing and requested a continuance to permit Naillon to obtain counsel and file an objection. The court was well aware that it was Naillon's desire to file an objection but because no written objection was on file

the court summarily refused Naillon's request and appointed Gitlin as Personal Representative over Naillon's objection.

The purpose behind the well established practice of permitting continuances is to permit parties in interest an opportunity to be heard. The court refused to grant Naillon's request for a continuance and violated Utah's virtually universal practice of turning probate matters over to the trial calendar when any form of an objection is entered. In desperation, Naillon relied upon the final efforts of his California counsel to make a telephonic request prior to the hearing, hoping that the telephonic request would be sufficient for a party in interest to obtain a continuance of a probate matter. Naillon concedes that his reliance upon the assurances of his out-of-state counsel as a last resort constitutes some form of neglect, but clearly, it is excusable. In Miller v. Brocksmith, 825 P.2d 690 (Utah App. 1992), the Utah Court of Appeals noted that reliance on the assurances of an attorney could, in the appropriate circumstances, be seen as excusable neglect. In Miller the Court did not find excusable neglect because it found no evidence to believe that the movant had ever retained the attorney. The record in the present case, however, clearly indicates more than a suggestion of retention in this matter. The court's minute entry clearly indicates that Naillon's California counsel contacted the court, spoke with the Judge and requested the continuance which

was summarily denied.

In Heath v. Mower, 597 P.2d 855 (Utah 1979) the Supreme Court of Utah declined to reverse the trial courts refusal to vacate or set aside its judgment because the defendant did not offer the trial court a reasonable excuse for his nonappearance so as to bring him under the rule that courts should liberally exercise their power to set aside judgments. In the case before this court, the court arbitrarily ignored the due diligence exercised by Naillon and the reasonableness for his nonappearance by rejecting the request for a continuance. It is a well-established practice that upon appearing and entering an objection of almost any nature, the Court will set the matter over to the trial calendar for hearing. The only element lacking in this case was the Petitioner's physical appearance.

The Court in Heath found it compelling that the party seeking to set aside the judgement offered "no explanation as to why [he] was unable to attend personally or be represented by an attorney at the pre-trial hearing." Further, the Utah Supreme Court has stated that a party attempting to set aside a judgement "must show that he has used due diligence and that he was prevented from appearing by circumstances over which he had no control." Heath v. Mower, 597 P.2d 855 (Utah 1979), (citing Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, 513 P.2d at 431). Naillon exercised due diligence in

attempting to obtain local counsel, but the unforeseeable refusals of some thirteen law firms were beyond his control. It is without question that Naillon's efforts were considerable, his reasons for nonappearance reasonable, and, his neglect in failing to appear personally without representation excusable.

## **II. MERITORIOUS DEFENSES EXIST TO THIS ACTION**

Throughout this action, from its beginnings in 1992 through the pendency of this appeal, Naillon has spent a great deal of his personal funds to hire professional investigators on behalf of all parties in interest. The results of months of intensive investigations have resulted in evidence of duress, undue influence, fraud and other issues which negate the initial findings of the Court indicating that the 1988 will admitted to probate expressed the testamentary intent of Mildred C. Meeks. Specifically, Naillon has discovered that it appears that the deceased may have been forced or under undue influence or medication when she signed her real property over to Gitlin within the week prior to her death as her signature was obtained while Mildred Meeks (the deceased) was in the hospital under heavy medication and incoherent.

Naillon's interests, together with the interests of all parties in interest, require an opportunity for justice to prevail in this matter. Justice demands the opportunity for all parties to

present evidence regarding Mildred C. Meeks true testamentary intent.

The facts and circumstances offered above operate to establish not only a second basis for this Court's decision to set aside the judgement of the District Court, but add the requirement of a meritorious defense to the action. Downey State Bank v. Major-Blankeney Corp., 545 P.2d 507 (Utah 1976); Mason v. Mason, 597 P.2d 1322 (Utah 1979). A meritorious defense is one that would "justify a trial of the issue thus raised". State by and through Department of Social Services v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053 (Utah 1983).; See also Id. Further, a meritorious defense exists where specific and sufficiently detailed facts which if proven, would have resulted in a judgement different than the one entered. Id. at 1057 (citing Lopez v. Reserve Insurance Co., 525 P.2d 1204 [Colo. App. 1974]).