1994

In the matter of the Estate of Mildred C. Meeks,  
deceased. Geroqe F. Naillon v. Robert Gitlin,  
Personal Representative of the Estate of Mildred C.  
Meeks : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Naillon's appeal is untimely and it should therefore be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. The appeal seeks to reopen the district court's Order of Formal Probate of Will and Appointment of Personal Representative. Under Section 75-3-413 of the Utah Probate Code, an order of formal probate can only be modified or vacated within the thirty day appeal time. Naillon sought to revive his untimely appeal or to vacate the probate order by filing a Petition under Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and then filing a notice of appeal after that Petition was denied by the district court. This backdoor approach to extend the appeal time should not be permitted. The

Order of Formal Probate was a final, appealable Order on the date it was entered, November 16, 1992. Naillon's appeal was not filed until one year later, on November 10, 1993. It should be dismissed.

Naillon's appeal seeks reversal of two decisions of the trial court on matters that the trial court is given broad discretion: whether to grant a continuance and whether to grant a Rule 60(b) motion to vacate a final order. The requirements of the Probate Code regarding notice, hearing, and contents of a Petition for Formal Probate were followed in all respects by the Personal Representative and by the district Court. Naillon's telephone request for a continuance to get a Utah lawyer did not cast any doubt on the merits of the probate petition. Further, only written objections to the merits of the probate petition would have warranted a further hearing under the Probate Code. The court acted within its sound and experienced discretion in denying the telephone request.

Naillon's 60(b) Petition failed to demonstrate that his neglect was excusable in waiting for three months to bring his concerns about this probate to the attention of the court. Furthermore, his Petition did not contain any newly discovered evidence to justify reconsideration of the Order of Formal Probate. He accuses the Personal Representative of exercising undue influence and fraud upon the decedent without citing specific, detailed facts, that are based on his personal knowledge. Naillon did not bring any competent evidence to the

attention of the trial court to support his Rule 60(b) Petition, and it was therefore appropriately denied by the trial court.

#### ARGUMENT

##### I. Naillon's Appeal is Untimely and Should be Dismissed

Appellant George Naillon seeks appellate review of the district court's Probate Order of November 16, 1993, yet no timely notice of appeal has been filed with respect to that Order. Further, Naillon's February 16, 1993 Petition under Rule 60(b) did not extend the time for filing a Notice of Appeal. This appellate Court, therefore, is without jurisdiction to consider Naillon's appeal.

Utah law provides that "[f]or good cause shown, an order in a formal testacy proceeding may be modified or vacated within the time allowed for appeal." Utah Code Ann. § 75-3-413; see also Utah Code Ann. § 75-3-412 ("Subject to appeal and subject to vacation as provided in this section and in Section 75-3-413, a formal testacy order . . . is final as to all persons with respect to all issues concerning the decedent's estate"). An "order admitting a will to probate in the course of formal testacy proceedings is a final order for purposes of appeal." Estate of Christensen v. Christensen, 655 P.2d 646, 648 (Utah 1982). The "time allowed for appeal" is thirty days. Utah R. App. P. 4(a).

Naillon's Rule 60(b) Petition to Vacate was not filed within thirty days of the November 16, 1992 formal probate order as required by Utah Code Ann. § 75-3-413. Instead, it was filed two months late, on February 16, 1993. Even if Naillon's Rule

60(b) Petition was timely, it did not extend the time for an appeal. See Utah R. App. P. 4(b) (only timely post-judgment motions under rules 50(b), 52(b), and 59 extend the time for appeal); Holbrook v. Hodson, 24 Utah 2d 120, 466 P.2d 843, 845 (1970); Anderson v. Anderson, 3 Utah 2d 277, 282 P.2d 845, 847 (1955). As the Utah Supreme Court stated in Fackrell v. Fackrell, 740 P.2d 1318, 1319 (Utah 1987), a Rule 60(b) motion "does not save this appeal and prevents us from reaching the merits of the trial court's original order. A Rule 60(b) motion does not extend or toll the thirty-day period in which appeals in the original action must be filed."

Without a timely notice of appeal, the appellate court is without jurisdiction over the appeal. Holbrook v. Hodson, 24 Utah 2d 120, 466 P.2d 843, 845 (1970). Naillon's appeal of the district court's Order entered October 12 denying his Rule 60(b) Petition to Vacate or Set Aside Order is a transparent attempt to appeal the November 16, 1992 Order. Naillon's Docketing Statement, and the issues and arguments made in his brief on appeal, demonstrates that he is seeking appellate review of the November 16, 1992 hearing and Order. As set forth above, he should have filed his "Petition to Vacate or Set aside Order" no later than thirty days after the court's Order was entered.

Naillon should not be permitted to use Rule 60(b) to circumvent the thirty-day time limit specifically prescribed by in Section 75-3-413 of the Probate Code or as a substitute for filing a timely appeal. See Laub v. South Central Utah Tele. Assoc., 657 P.2d 1304, 1306 (Utah 1982) ("court should consider

[ ] whether Rule 60(b) is being used as a substitute for appeal"); Morse-Starrett Prods. Co. v. Steccone, 205 F.2d 244, 249 (9th Cir. 1953) (same). If the Court does not dismiss Naillon's appeal as untimely, and considers the merits of his arguments about the November 16, 1992 Order of Formal Probate, precedent would be made that the thirty day appeal time can be avoided or extended by at least another three months. Under Naillon's approach, a party who files a Rule 60(b) Motion within three months after an otherwise final, appealable order, and who thereafter files an appeal within thirty days of the denial of that Order, may get the appellate court to review the merits of the trial court's original order. This back door approach to revive untimely issues for appeal is contrary to Section 75-3-413 of the Probate Code, and the Rules of Civil and Appellate Procedure, and it should not be condoned by the Court.

II. The District Court Properly Denied the Telephonic Request for a Continuance by Naillon's California Lawyer

The Utah Probate Code sets forth specific procedures to be followed in admitting a will into formal probate and for the appointment of a personal representative to administer the affairs of the decedent's estate. These procedures were followed in all respects by Mr. Gitlin and by the district court. See Utah Code §§ 75-3-401 to -414, reprinted at Addendum A.

On October 27, 1992, Mr. Gitlin filed the Petition for Formal Probate of Will and Appointment of Personal Representative. (R. 1-11.) The Petition contained all the information required under the Probate Code for the Will to be



formally probated, including the names and addresses of all known heirs, beneficiaries, and interested persons, and the original Last Will and Testament of the decedent. See Utah Code Ann. §§ 75-3-401 and -402. On November 5, 1994, Notice of the hearing on the Petition was mailed by the clerk of the court to all persons listed in the Petition, including to Naillon. (R. 12-14, see Add. D.) The Notice was mailed "at least ten days before the time set for the hearing," in accordance with Utah Code §§ 75-3-403 and 75-1-401.

Mr. Naillon did not file or make any objection with the court to justify not accepting the decedent's Will into probate. The Utah Probate Code requires that written objections be made: "Any party to a formal proceeding who opposes the probate of a will for any reason shall state in his pleadings his objections to probate of the will." Utah Code Ann. § 75-3-404 (emphasis added). A telephone request for a continuance of a duly noticed hearing is not provided for in the Probate Code, and such a request is insufficient to warrant scheduling the matter for trial as Naillon suggests on appeal. (Appellant's Brief at 10.) Furthermore, Naillon's telephone request, which was made right before the hearing was scheduled to start, did not include any claim that the Will offered by Gitlin was invalid, that the Notice of hearing was improper, or that the Petition was defective in any respect. (R.163.) Rather, Naillon's lawyer simply sought a continuance of the duly noticed hearing to enable his client more time to consult a local attorney about the Petition. (Id.)

Given these circumstances, the district court acted in accordance with the Probate Code in ordering the formal probate of the Will and appointing Mr. Gitlin as personal representative. Utah Code Ann. § 75-3-409. Naillon cannot reasonably contend that this was an abuse of discretion by the court. See Hardy v. Hardy, 776 P.2d 917, 925-26 (Utah App. 1989) (whether to grant continuance rests in sound discretion of trial court). The court simply followed the procedures outlined in the Code; Naillon did not.

III. The District Court Properly Denied Naillon's Rule 60(b) Motion to Vacate or Set Aside the Order of Formal Probate

The Utah Supreme Court has stated the following with regard to judicial review of a Rule 60(b) motion:

In addition to the concerns that final judgments should not be lightly disturbed and that unjust judgments should not be allowed to stand, other factors the court should consider are whether rule 60(b) is being used as a substitute for appeal, whether the movant had a fair opportunity to make his objection at trial, and whether the motion was made within a reasonable time after entry of judgment. 7 J. Moore & J. Lucas, Moore's Federal Practice ¶ 60.19 (2d ed. 1982).

Laub v. South Central Utah Tele. Assoc., 657 P.2d 1304, 1306 (Utah 1982). The Utah Supreme Court has also said that "the district court judge is vested with considerable discretion under Rule 60(b) in granting or denying a motion to set aside a judgment." Katz v. Pierce, 732 P.2d 92, 93 (Utah 1986).

Naillon asserted excusable neglect and newly discovered evidence as the bases for his Rule 60(b) Petition to Vacate or Set Aside the November 16, 1992 Order of Formal Probate. Neither

basis had merit and Naillon's Rule 60(b) was properly denied by the district court. (R. 145-48, 150-51.)

(1) Naillon Did Not Demonstrate Excusable Neglect

Naillon argued before the district court, and again argues on appeal, that he did not raise his concerns about this probate earlier because he could not find a Utah attorney who was willing to help him. This may explain why he did not have a Utah lawyer appear in person at the November 16, 1992 hearing, but it does not explain why he did not come to Utah himself to be present at the hearing, or why he did not file any document with the court identifying reasons why the Will should not be probated. Naillon did neither of these things and has offered no reasonable explanation to explain this neglect. "Mere inconvenience or the press of personal or business affairs is not deemed as an excuse for failure to appear at trial." Valley Leasing v. Houghton, 661 P.2d 959, 960 (Utah 1983).

Naillon's contention that he contacted thirteen attorneys who would not appear on his behalf (Appellant's Brief at 9) is more of an indication as to the lack of merit of his case than an indication that his neglect was excusable. Naillon's Affidavit states that he contacted all these attorneys before the November 16, 1992, hearing, not afterwards. (R.49-50.) There was no indication in Naillon's 60(b) Petition or in his Affidavit to justify why he could not have presented his concerns about this estate between the time of his aunt's death on August 10, 1992 and the hearing on November 16, 1992, nor is there any justification why the information could not have been

gathered and presented within thirty days after the hearing. In short, Naillon failed to establish that his neglect in bringing his concerns to the attention of the court in a timely manner was excusable.

(2) No Evidence was Presented by Naillon to Warrant Setting Aside the Probate Order

Perhaps the most compelling reason to affirm the district court's exercise of discretion in denying Naillon's Rule 60(b) Motion is the reason given by Judge Halliday in his Memorandum Decision: "the Court finds the Affidavit [of George F. Naillon] to be insufficient to give rise to a justifiable reason for setting aside the original Order of Judge Bunnell." (R. 146-47.) The court explained further:

The only factual allegation contained in the Affidavit that bears upon some undue influence at the time of the execution of the Will is really inferential, and that is from the fact that Mr. Gitlin was named in the Will as a donee five years ago and was named as a grantee in a deed executed seven days prior to the decedent's death, at a time the Affiant believed she may have been in pain and under the influence of some unspecified drugs. We are asked to infer that Gitlin exercised undue influence over the Decedent's execution of the Will. That inference requires a leap of faith that this Court cannot make.

(R. 147-48.)

In Naillon's Brief on Appeal, he again alludes to having recently discovered "evidence of duress, undue influence, fraud and other issues which negate the initial findings of the Court." Appellant's Brief at 12. Noticeably absent from these invidious, conclusory allegations are any citations to the record of the trial court. "This Court need not, and will not, consider any facts not properly cited to, or supported by, the record."

Uckerman v. Lincoln Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 588 P.2d 142, 143 (Utah 1978); Utah R. App. P. 24(e). Naillon made these same type of conclusory accusations in his Affidavit filed with his Rule 60(b) Petition, which the district court found unpersuasive (R. 146-48), and which gave rise to the Personal Representative's Motion to Strike. (R.107-111.) The Utah Supreme Court has held that, among other requirements, claims of newly discovered evidence in a Rule 60(b) motion must be supported by "specific, detailed facts," that would justify a trial on the issue raised, not unfounded, conclusory allegations such as Naillon has made here. State v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053, 1056-57 (Utah 1983). Given Naillon's untimely and inadequate claims, the district court's sound discretion in denying Naillon's 60(b) Petition should be affirmed.